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Col. B. Frank Mebane (1867 - 1926) in the yard of his home “as You Like It.” The
Colonel is shown with one of his championship bird dogs. Note the brick smokehouse
in the background. The building still stands on the grounds of the Morehead-Mebane

house in the Spray section of Eden.

Courtesy of Lily Harris Keeling

The Bridge To Nowhere:

The Great Mebane’s Bridge Controversy
by
Bob Carter

The construction of the Fishine  Bri : .
River nez?r_ Eden in 1924, contrarybtc(): Eﬁ?\ﬁ;{iﬁe{,{fo{g ’::]I al.-ljr?:ej ofv;r Th.e Dan
County c.:uzens, led to one of the greatest political Comrc)virs'ey? Ock!ngham
Co‘ur1ly.h|sl0ry. The erection of the bridge, which soon became kI . R?kagham
Br:ldge’ or “Mebane’s Folly” for its chief promoter B. Frank Ma;;:n : i\’leb_ﬂne .
resignation of two county commissioners, triggered several laroe n:t, s te‘! n [r.le
chlwonh and led to lawsuits which remained in court for ma?l pe Esl]{?]eet:ngs -
how “The Bridge to Nowhere” came into being is a most intereilyi’nirzﬁaa s
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Background

To unde_rs{and the controversy one needs to review some earlier history of th
county. Beginning in 1915 Rockingham County embarked on a “Goodrylg rde
Program” but the effort moved slowly and it was in the early 1920s before pm::'?es:
was made in improving the county's roads." In 1922 the newly elected Boa:d f
County Commissioners voted to spend a large sum of money to build a concrete ro;d
from Reidsville to the county seat Village of Wentworth and from there to Leaksville
Also as part of the “Good Roads” project the county was busily engaged in regradin -
and top .soiling the rural roads of the county. In 1923-1924 lhebcoumy en?ered §
progressive program of school consolidation by closing a number of rural frame
schools and re;placing them with large modern brick school buildings at Wentworth
and Bethany.” With all these on-going construction projects the county debt rose
more than a million dollars to $3,600,000 within one year’s time. The county tax rate
went from $.95 per hundred to $1.35 valuation in 1922-23 and to $1.59 in 1924-25.
Still, these additional tax revenues did not raise sufficient funds to pay for the
§onstmcli0r1 projects and the county had to borrow large sums of money at high
Interest rates to pay the county’s bills.> It soon became evident that Col. B. Frank
Mel?ane. textile mill owner and large landowner of the Spray (now Eden) area, was
behind this movement for “progress.”



The Mebanes

B. Frank Mebane, Jr. was a native of Alamance Cloynly, Norlh Carolina, where
his father B. Frank Mebane, Sr. was a prominent phySJ’C‘IEII‘I. His mother Fannie Kerr
descended from the prominent Graves and Yancey families of Caswell County, North
Car-::;!ina.4 Mebane was born on 4 February 1867 and as a yF)uth he attended the
famous Bingham Military School which was located near his Alamance County
home. At the age of 17 he left school and soon acquired an impressive record as 4
salesman, first in Danville and then in New York City. Sometime during the period
he met Lily C. Morehead, daughter of J. Turner Morehead, the owner of the
Leaksville Cotton Mill in Spray, North Carolina. The cotton mill had been
established in 1839 by Lily's grandfather, Governor John Motley Morehead., and the

business was continued after the Civil War by Lily’s father, J. Turner Morehead >
Lily’s mother Mary L. Connally Morehead recognized B. Frank Mebane as “an up
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and coming young man” and soon a match was made.” The young couple were

married in the Leaksville Baptist Church on 8 June 1893.” They settled in New York
City but later returned to Spray where Mebane learned the textile business from his
father-in-law J. Turner Morehead. Around 1894 Mebane and his brother, George A.
Mebane, became involved in building a large textile mill in Cooleemee, North

Carolina, which they sold about the time the project was Completed.s
Frank and Lily lived for a time in Greensboro where he worked for the Cone

family in their textile business.” Later the Mebanes returned to Spray where they
resided the remainder of their lives. They had purchased the Morehead homeplace in
Spray in 1894 long before Lily’s father J. Tumer Morehead filed bankruptcy in
1899, Mebane had succeeded his father-in-law as president of the Spray Water
Power and Land Company which was a holding company for the Morehead textile
and land interest. After the Morehead bankruptcy Mebane was in control of the
former Morehead properties and now with vision he began to build his textile empire

completing five mills by 1906."" These mills gave employment to hundreds of local
workers and many people moved from the nearby counties of Virginia and North
Carolina to Spray.

By 1907 Mebane was in a position to propose the building of a textile school in
Spray to train young men for a career in the industry. He even attempted to
hire noted North Carolina educator Charles Mclver to oversee the school but Mclver
turned down Mebane’s offer. In 1907 a banking panic ended any chance of the
school being built,"* With the passage of time Mebane’s finances became over-
extended partially due to his building the The North Carolina & Virginia Railroad
andin 1911 and 1912 his principal creditor Marshal Field Company of Chicago took
over control
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The Morehead-Mebane house in Spray was built in varying stages in the mid to
late nineteenth century. The Mebanes named their home “As You Like 1" The

house was demolished in the 19705 after it was gutted by fire in 1969.

Courtesy of Historical Collections, Rockingham Community College

Lily C. Morehead Mebane (1869 -
1943), wife of B. Frank Mebane,
circa 1905.

Courtesy of Lily Harris Keeling




i i igine (SVi ton Mill and the
of the textile mills. with the exception of the original Leaksville Cot

Morehead Cotton Mill." Being a “wheeler-dealer” Mebane was also able to retain
ownership of 8,000 acres of farm land in “the Meadows” located between the Smith

River and the mill Village of Draper. 1 1t was perhaps through the h(?ldinif:c);ndp:abl?les
Spray Water Power and Land Company or the Rockingham Cf)n'l]’)dnyt at ;, thie
was able to hold onto these large tracts of land. He develo.ped a large anq profitable
livestock business on his property and maintained a hunting 10dge for his nonht?m
friends on part of the farm. He developed a showp!acc farm and 1n(r.odL.|ced ['mrelblec_!
Hereford cattle to Piedmont North Carolina and for years was a principal livestock
exhibitor at the fairs of the region,h In 1905 he was the Chief Marshal at the North

Carolina State Fair in Raleigh."® _ P

Through the years B. Frank Mebane made many busmgss and p_olm;al
connections over the country. As a Republican he made friends with people in hlgll';
places. Once President-elect Taft’s wife paid a visit to the Meb.aﬁe home in Spray.
With his important friends he was in a position to pass out political favors a‘;gd over
time was able to build a power base with important people and his workers.  Later
he would call in these favors and in usually Democratic controlled Rockingham
County he was elected to the county Board of Education and served from 1919 1o
1925."

However Mebane did not control the Board of Rockingham County
Commissioners and in the election of 1922 he quietly helped three Democrats be
elected to the county board who were willing to support his future plans. His crili;s
later charged that he royally entertained the three at his home in Spray to oblaigﬂthelr
assistance in carrying out his master plan for progress in Rockingham County.” The
three newly elected commissioners were: W. F. Pruitt, a farmer from the Mayfield
area; J. F. McCollum, a farmer from the Bethany area; and Madison merchant
Thomas R. Pratt.

Mebane’s Master Plan

Atsome unknown time B. Frank Mebane had developed a visionary plan to bring
a giant chemical plant to the Spray area and locate it on his property. He believed that
the new industry would bring growth and increased employment and that the area
would prosper and he would be seen as a great benefactor. The name of the industry
was never released to the public and is still unknown to this day. The site Mebane
chose for the future plant was in *‘the Meadows” near the confluence of the Smith

and Dan Rivers.*! The only problem was that there was no road and bridge across
Dan River to make the site easily accessible to the Reidsville area. But this was only
a small problem; the county could build a new bridge across the Dan River Just
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below its confluence with Fishing Creek. And with his three new supportive
commissioners elected in 1922, now was the time to move forward with his master
plan.

It was of little consequence that at the same time the Atlantic Bridge Company of
Roanoke, Virginia had a new bridge under construction a mile and one-half upstream
from Mebane's proposed bridge site. This new bridge was located on the new
concrete road then being built to link Reidsville, Wentworth and Leaksville.* Also
between the new bridge (which entered Leaksville by way of Hamilton Street) and
Mebane’s proposed bridge site there was another bridge, the Leaksville Covered
Bridge, which was still in use at the time.> So if Mebane's bridge was built there
would be three bridges crossing the Dan within one and one half mile of each other.

Mebane’s Bridge

In the Spring and Summer of 1923 Mebane began to move forward with his
plans for the bridge to be built with the help of his three Democratic friends. The
other two Democratic county commissioners R. B, Chance and J. R. Martin opposed
Mebane's plans. On 19 March 1923 the county commissioners passed a resolution to
appropriate one half million dollars for the construction of a paved road from Settle’s
Bridge to Madison and $50,000 for Mebane’s bridge at Fishing Creek. As expected,
the motion passed with Pruitt, McCollum and Pratt voting in favor while Chance and
Martin voted against the proposal.z4 It seems clear that the paved road from Settle’s
Bridge to Madison was only a ploy to gain support for the Mebane's Bridge project
from the people living in western Rockingham County.

While many of the county citizens approved the idea of paved roads and modemn
schools, the Mebane group completely misread the public’s support of a new road
and the bridge. With several expensive projects already underway, the Mebane
political machine should have realized that the county budget could not support all
these building projects at the same time.

Opposition to the Bridge

The Reidsville Review took the lead in opposing Mebane’s bridge plan. On 26
March 1923 the Review carried the following headline: “County Fathers Start
Something! Taxpayers Sit Up And Take Notice - Said To Be Only A Start of Some
Great Program of County ExpEI‘ldilLlI‘f:S."zs Some citizens quickly realized that the
political machine was pulling the strings of local government. The idea that
three Democratic commissioners who voted for the bridge expenditure had been

S



1922 on a platform of reduced taxes and now they haq gone
ber 1922
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i aign promises -- this was unforgivable.” And that they o vaced
back on their campalg
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Jong the opposition to the bridge came together and held a protest meeting
efore long the 0ppo o " )
B znunhome in Wentworth. The county comm%ssmners quickly
T Colmw| sy had a political hot potato on their hz‘mds and in ‘May 1923 they
Sl l-]lbyhard-qurface the road from Settle’s Bridge to Madison thus saving
dropped pl't:r]]‘i)nodoll'lrﬁ They also passed a resolution to discontinue any future plans
ancealt . due to the high cost. It is interesting to note that this resolution
to pave other roads due g o 28
ey 1<hi o
made no reference to building the Fishing Creek ‘l‘l . ge. & '
The coalition of citizens who opposed the building of Mebane’s bll@ga hlred

attorney and obtained a temporary injunction to prevent the construction of the
-t is wi ly a temporary victory for in June 1923 Judge
structure. However, this was only a p opns . g
Thomas J. Shaw of Winston-Salem dissolved the injunction. T.h!!% action resy!tecl I,I‘l
another large protest meeting in Wentworth and ‘lhe formation of a (.jll?f_en 8
Committee.” The committee asked for the resignation of the three commissioners

elected in Noven

who had supported the bridge pla:1.30 Nothing was hc.ard from lhe.con?missionf:rs
who were meeting in the courthouse at the same time. The Reidsville Review
continued to rail against the bridge proposal but little was heard on the matter frgm
The Leaksville News. The Tri-City Gazette published in Spray was Mebane’s chief
supporter for his progressive plans and that papcrjcllaimcd that the opponents of the
bridge were trying to stop progress in the county. ‘

The commissioners” non-action on the bridge matter continued to agitate the
county’s citizens and on 2 July 1923 an estimated 2,000 protesters held a mass
meeting in Wentworth at the same time as the commissioners were meeting. Sf)me
attendees became upset and made rash statements about the three pl'O-bliidge
commissioners, Mebane and his political machine. The meeting came close Lo being a
riot but the group did manage to pass a resolution asking the commissioners (o call
for a county election on the question of building the bridge. Chairman Thomas R.
Pratt promised to consider the request but the commissioners refused to call an
election on the issue.>

During the summer of 1923 the political pressure continued to build on the
county commissioners and at one point Chairman T. R. Pratt and J. F. McCollum
both stated they were too ill to attend the commissioners’ meetings. Also during the
summer R. B. Chance, a bridge opponent perhaps aware of the firestorm that Was
developing, resigned his seat on the Board. He was quickly replaced by a Reidsville

businessman, George F. Barber, also a bridge opponent.> This change did not affect
the board’s

position on the bridge question since it was still three commissioners in favor of
building the bridge and two against.

The Contract is Let

Despite the fact that a large majority of count
Mebane’s bridge, on 7 January 1924
commissioners- Pratt,

y citizens were opposed to building
the three-man majority of the county

Pruitt and McCollum - voted to let the contract to the Luten
Bridge Company of Knoxville, Tennessee at a bid of $39.670. The Reidsville
Review and the “Citizen’s Committee” continued their crusade against building the
bridge. In early February 1924 Commissioners Pratt, Pruitt and McCollum filed a
large civil lawsuit for slander against The Review and the leaders of the “Citizen’s
Committee.” Each of the three commissioners and some members of the Citizen’s
Committee were sued for $25,000 damages being nearly a million dollar suit. The

suit was to remain in the courts for five years before the case was dismissed by a
. 35
judge.™

A Change of Direction

During the month of February 1924 the story of Mebane's Bridge took a
dramatic change of direction. As political pressure continued to mount on the pro-
bridge commissioners, one of them. W. Frank Pruitt, resigned his seat on 11
Fcbruary}(' Pruitt cited poor health as his reason for resigning but he was also
involved in an intense church controversy at the same time.”” Clerk of Court Hunter
K. Penn accepted commissioner Pruitt’s resignation but that afternoon Pruitt called
Penn’s office saying that he wanted to withdraw his resignation. Penn disregarded his
telephone call and the following day he appointed Leaksville businessman, W. W.
Hampton, a strong opponent of Mebane’s Bridge to fill the vacancy thus giving the
Mebane's Bridge opponents a three to two majority on the county board of
commissioners.”™ The pro-bridge commissioners, Pratt and McCollum, never
attended another county commissioners meeting. However, the saga of Mebane’s
Bridge was far from over,

Atits regular meeting on 21 February 1924 the county commissioners George F.
Barber, J. R. Martin and W. W. Hampton passed a resolution rescinding the Luten
Company’s contract to build the Fishing Creek Bridge. The board notified the bridge
company not to build the bridge.39 The following day W. H. Long, vice-president of
the Luten Bridge Company, said in a newspaper interview that the Luten Company

7



e bridge since they had a If;:gal c.;omracjt. He comi.['med,
statine that the Rockingham County COIII'H‘HiS:iiOI.'lC.TS "cz1.|]1.t ri:;:;:;iaroc::;:ij;ri
;:ammnl stop after contracting for the muFermI and having it :s nppln“ 2 fonine e
1 shall build the bridge and build it for l'ht‘ contract p:rrlt,::or L‘m’bc 7,(;? ﬁ;el h:mi
;iown to the solid rock for one end of the bridge... The bl];[ELd\\;Ouc | S_ﬂ:u sl O‘F
with three arches, 103 feet each of an open spundre.l ribbe yp', : ,
reinforced conerete.” So the company continued working on]the brlndngt:,, '|d(')n: soq.;ce
said that the company maintained a night watchman throughout the building project

would go ahead and build th

41
since there was talk of dynamiting the structure.

Luten Bridge Company

What manner of corporation was the Luten Bridge Company lharn insislc_d on
building a bridge when the commissioners had rescinded the contract ? The original
company had been founded by Daniel B. Luten who was b0|:n in Miclhlg_r‘an in1869.
He was an 1894 civil engineering graduate of The University of Mwhllgam: From
1895-1900 he was an instructor of civil engineering at Purdue Unwgrsny but
resiened in 1900 to design arch reinforced concrete bridges. Luten eslabhsihed _The
Nat‘i—onul Bridge Company in 1902 and was an enthusiastic salesman of his bn([ge
design. By 1919 he had drawn plans for thousands of bridges whlc.h had been bl..ll|l
across the country. Over the years he wrote a number of books on bridge construction
and came Lo hold over 30 patents on arch concrete bridge design. After 1905 his
National Bridee Company became involved only in engineering design and
supervision of bridge construction. At that time Luten began making arrangements
with other companies to build bridges using his plans. Some of the companies
operated under the name Luten Bridge Company but their only connection Wth
Daniel B. Luten was that they were paying him for the use of his name and bridge
plans. One such company was The Luten Bridge Company of Knoxville, Tennessee
with G. S. Dougherty serving as presidenl.42 :

Mebane's Bridge was not the only bridge built by the Luten Company in
Rockingham County. In 1919 the company had erected the concrele bridge across
Smith River in Spray near the Spray Mercantile Company building at a cost of
$32,500. The bridge was built to replace the old steel truss structure erected at the
sitein 1889-1890. The 1919 bridge over the Smith River remained in use until 1954

; 43
when the present bridge was completed.

The Saga Continues

By late February 1924 the non-active chairman of the board Thomas R. Pratt was
seriously ill and had to be confined to an out-of-state hospital. On 26 February the
active members of the board, Barber, Martin and Hampton, met and elected James R.
Martin as their new chairman.** The board met again on 3 March 1924 and passed
another resolution informing Luten Bridge Company “that all work done on the
bridge was at its own hazzard and risk since the contract was not a valid and legal
contract.” However the company continued working on the bridge and in April 1924
the board again notified the company that all bills given to the county for the work
would be rejected but the company persisted in working on the project during the
summer and fall of that year.“

In the Rockingham County elections held in November 1924 the voters gave
overwhelming approval to three former board members by re-electing Martin, Barber
and Hampton and electing two bridge opponents J. A. Benton and Charles H.
Dalton.*® 1t was now clear that the Mebane political machine had lost its control of
county government and one source said that they packed their bags in Wentworth and
returned to Spray.'rJr

The Luten Company had continued working on the bridge until November 1924

three days before the new board of commissioners took their seats.*® The bridge was
complete except no fill dirt had been placed at either end of the structure’s abutments
and there was still no road to the bridge.

In December 1924 the new board held its first meeting and passed a new
resolution slating that, “The Fishing Creek Bridge is not in the interest of the public
and the action of the former board rescinding the order to build the bridge is hereby
upproved,"w On 31 January 1925 the Luten Company sent a bill to the county for
the bridge construction but again county officials refused to pay the bill. >

Why did Luten Build The Bridge ?

There are many unanswered questions about the construction of Mebane's Bridge
and the most interesting is why did the Luten Company not stop work when the
contract was rescinded by the county? Since the records of B. Frank Mebane's Spray
Water Power and Land Company are not available for researchers we probably will
never know all the answers about the construction of the bridge. It may be as simple
as Mebane was unwilling to give up his plans and insisted on the bridge construction
continuing. Years later a newspaper article about one of the lawsuits over the bridge
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stated that the Spray Water Power and Land Company gave Luten Bridge Company
$25,000 in Liberty Bonds to continue working on the project.” B. Frank Mebane
was not a man to let $25,000 stop his master plan.

A Road For Mebane’s Bridge

In 1923 when B. Frank Mebanes friends, Pratt, Pruitt and McCollum approved
construction of Mebane's bridge they also authorized a new road to be built from the
Draper highway to the road leading to Harrison’s Crossroads and crossing the
proposed bridge. There was a dead-end public road from the Moir homeplace to the
Draper Road but the commissioners ordered that this road was to be abandoned so

the new road could replace i(.al Records show that construction began on the road
before work began on Mebane’s Bridge. The road, two miles in length, began near
the end of the Spray bridge and ran down the east side of Smith River. The upperend
of the road was completed with the construction of two concrete culverts. As road
construction reached a point near the present King’s Highway area the project was
abandoned after the county rescinded the bridge contract. However some grading had
been started on the south end of the road in the Bear Slide area and two concrete
culverts had been completed on the east side of Lynrock Golf Club. No fill dirt was
ever added to either side of these culverts and they stand forgotten waiting for a road
that would never be completed.

The road was given the name River Side Drive and the construction of the
project was under the direction of the county engineer J. S. Trogdon. The cost of the
road was approximately $7,000.00 and the county commissioners actually paid
$2,000.00 of the cost before work was stopped on the project.:’3 Years later in the
upper end of the road would become the site of one of Eden’s sewer lines.

The Law Suits Began

The Luten Bridge Company worked on the bridge until 3 November 1924. Most
of the job was completed except for the approaches to the structure. Of course there
was still no road to the bridge - the only way to cross the bridge was to climb a ladder
on the north end of the structure built by Luten Bridge Company. Folklore says the
ladder was later replaced by Rev. Levi Robertson so he could walk that way to his
job in the Finishing Mill in Spray.s4

On 6 November 1924 the “former” county commissioners, Pruitt, Pratt and

McCollum met with an attorney and signed a document admit

ting the county’s
lability =
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Mebane’s Bridge in 2004. The bridge, erected in 1924, was closed to traffic in
November, 2003.

Courtesy of Don Hoover

Remains of a bridge on Riverside Drive built ca. 1923-24 to connect Mebane’s
Bridge with the Spray-Draper Road. After the Mebane's Bridge controversy began,
this construction project was abandoned.

Courtesy of Don Hoover
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e laridce.55 Then on 24 November 1924 Luten t_‘lied alaw suit again_m
for btflldmg the b'md the county commissioners Pratt, Pruitt, McCollum, Martin,
Rocklnghﬁm COLrIIT?rI‘Com in Greensboro for the sum of $18,301.07 for work on the
zm_d Barber in Fe L(Fl of 3 November 1924. Since the Luten Company did not
bndgcf UI:Nm\\t!h?-hr;l:slon l;: be a legally appointed commissioner he was not named
consider W. W. rd

in the suit. cas ac Fi : e
1J!JI [h; clum nt siened by the three former commissioners was filed as part of Luten’s
he do entsig 5

Jaw suil. The document would become a vital part of cvidcncg i.n later T.I‘I:ﬂi?_:’ﬁ |

On 1 December 1924 the newly elected board of COmI“I‘l]RSIOTlerS met for their
first meeting and they employed attorneys to defend the county’s position in the
Luten suit.” Al the hearing the jlidgc ordered the county to ‘ﬁle an answ-.jr to the
plaintiff’s case by 1 August 1925. I.‘he counl)‘f conll’p‘he:J .ulfnth Ll?jsdregllf,sé. Ehe
county’s attorneys denied that the brldgg cgnuact was ]t..gd or binding an .t ey
entered the resolution of the county commissioners which rescinded the contract for
building the hridgc-:.':'8 A reply was filed by the plaintiff al.ld I‘he case was Alo rlemain in
court for several years. The bridge case finally came to trial in Middle Dtsirl?l Co_url
in Greensboro in late February 1927. The county’s defense hinged on the resignation
of W.E. Pruitt and the appointment of W. W. Hampton in his plac.c which allowed
the county commissioners to rescind the bridge contract. The trial did not go well for
the county as Judge E. Y. Webb excluded this vital part of the county’s case. The
Jury returned a verdict for plaintiff in the full amount of $18,301.07. The county took
notice of appeal. When it became obvious that the opposing sides in the case would
not compromise, Judge Webb asked both the defendants and plaintiffs to submit new
affidavits and he would issue a decision at a later date. A hearing on the county's
non-payment of the Judge’s award was set for 8 Decembel: 1927 but evidently no
action was taken on the matter and the case was continued.>”

A New Lawsuit Is Filed

In late November 1927 the Luten Bridge Company filed a new lawsuit for
$25,000, a supplementary action to the old suit instituted in 1924, The suit came to
trial in Greensboro before Judge E. Y. Webb on 23 January 1929 at a special term of
Federal Court. Judge Webb instructed the jury to find that the county was indebted to
the bridge company in the sum of § 1 8,301.07. The jury found in favor of the plaintiff
- thus Rockingham County lost the bridge case. The county attorneys gave notice of
appeal to the Federal Court of Appeals in Richmond, Virginia. The attorneys in the
case were A. L. Brooks and Julius C. Smith for the plaintiffs and for the defendants,
W. M. Hendren of Winston-Salem, Frank P. Hobgood of Greensboro, and B. C.
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Trotter and J. M. Sharp from Reidsvyille,®

A Landmark Case

The long drawn out legal battle between the Luten Bridge Company and
Rockingham County came before the Federal Court of Appeals in Richmond,
Virginia in July 1929, Sitting on the bench were Judge John J. Parker of Monroe,
North Carolina, Judge Soper of Baltimore and Judge McClintic of West Virginia.
The same attorneys who served the plaintiff and the defendants in Greensboro also
appeared in Richmond except P. W. Glidewell of Reidsyille who appeared as
attorney for the former commissioners Pratt, Pruitt and McCollum.®!

The three-judge panel heard the case. and decided that the issue came down to
the point-in-law - was W. W, Hampton legally appointed as a county commissioner
to replace W. F. Pruitt and if so could the board then rescind a legal contract? On 15
October 1929 Judge Parker handed down the court’s opinion that W. W. Hampton
was a de facto member of the board and was a qualified member and that his actions
were binding and that the board had the right to cancel the contract with Luten
Bridge Company. The court further stated that the answer of Pratt, Pruitt and
McCollum stating in the document that the county was liable for the bridge
construction was not the answer of the county and that they had no right 1o answer as
individuals and Judge Webb was in error not to strike out their answer. The court
further ruled that Judge Webb should not have excluded the county commissioner’s
resolution and not directed a verdict for the plaintiff. The judge’s conclusion was that
the judgement of the Federal Court in Greensboro was in error and that the action be
reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. Newspaper headlines proclaimed that
Rockingham County had won the Mebane Bridge case and that the action was
definitely concluded by the decision of the Court of Appeals in Richmond.%
However, this proved not to be true as the Luten Bridge Company was later to file a
new lawsuit against the county.

Some interesting testimony came to light in the Court of Appeals hearing in
Richmond. It was revealed that when W. W. Hampton was appointed to replace
Commissioner Pruitt the bridge company had only one car load of cement on the
ground at the bridge site and that at first the Luten Company stated their preparation
and time lost only deprived them of $3.000 profit. After the county rescinded the
bridge contract, Luten said they were going to file a suit for breach of contract to
collect a larger sum. The county offered to settle the matter but the company then
refused and finished the bridge and then billed the county for $40,000. This matter
became an important point in law as the judge found that the Luten Company should
have stopped construction of the bridge when notified by the county. The 15 October
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1029 decision of the Court of Appeals was to become a benchmark in American

e 63
jurisprudence.
The Bridge to Nowhere

In 1932 a newspaper reporter wrote the following paragraph about Mebane’s
Bridge: “Miles from anywhere, with no approaches and no connecting roads, the
most beautiful bridge in the South springs in three magnificent arches across the
historic Dan. a silhouette in virgin alabaster against the green hills of a wilderness.”®*
The reporter accurately described the bridge - a totally useless structure which had
cost the county large sums of money in lawyer fees and would continue to be a bone
of contention for years (o come.

Over time the area near the bridge became a rendezvous site for courting couples,
picnickers and loafers and for target practice. The bridge itself became a popular site

for young people to hold dances.®® And so it continued in the Depression days.

New Developments

Sometime after the 1929 ruling the Luten Bridge Company filed a new lawsuit
against Rockingham County for the sum of $12,000 in damages for building the
bridge. The case was heard in August 1932 before Judge Luther B. Way of Norfolk,
Virginia, during a special civil session of Federal Court in Greensboro. After the trial
the judge awarded the bridge company the sum of $9.280 as profits due or would
have acerued had not the county rescinded the order to build the bridge. The county
was given 45 days in which to prepare an appeal. It appears that the county paid the
Luten Company the $9,280 awarded by the judgc.ﬁ6

A Road At Last

The now famous Mebane’s Bridge remained roadless for eleven years before the
North Carolina State Highway Department took possession of the bridge by the
condemnation process. Prior to 1931 the local county roads were maintained by the
county and there was no effort to build a road to the bridge. In early July 1935 the
State Highway Department began the construction of a dirt road to the bridge.
Construction began at both ends of the new road with the north end tying into the
Spray-Draper Road near the Flinchum’s School.®” On the south side of the Dan only
a short road was needed to tie into the Harrison’s Crossroad Road. When the new
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road was completed one could at long last drive across *“Mebane’s Folly.” However,
the area was still rural in nature and little traffic used the bridge. It would be 1968
before the road across the bridge was p;wed,68

A New Lawsuit

Luten Bridge Company claimed that the county owed them $44,000. With the
Spray Water Power and Land Company paying $25,000 and the county paying
$9.200, the Luten Company said it was still due the sum of $9,800. After the North
Carolina State Highway Commission built the road across the bridge in 1935, Luten
entered a suit against the Commission for the remaining $9,800.% However, the
highway commission referred the matter back to Rockingham County Court and on
22 June 1936 the case became a special proceeding hearing in Wentworth. The
hearing was held in July 1936 before Clerk of Superior Court, M. T. Smith, with a
jury composed of Fred Arrowood, Jimmie Orren and R. H. Terrell. The jury decided
that Luten was entitled to nothing. The company filed notice of an ﬂppeal.m The suit
remained in court for several years and on 24 October 1939 the case came before
Superior Court Judge J. A. Rousseau in Wentworth. When the case was called, no
representatives or attorneys for Luten Bridge appeared to prosecute the cuse.” Judge
Rousseau then charged the Luten Company with the court cost and records show that
the cost was $25.70. Records show that Luten failed to pay the bill. Insofar as is
known this concluded the famous Mebane Bridge case. Court records show no other
judgements or dismissal of the case.n

Strange to say county newspapers failed to mention Judge Rousseau’s ruling;
perhaps people were just sick and tired of hearing about the lawsuits which had drug
on for fifteen years.

Conclusion

In law schools across the United States students studying contract law still read
the opinion of Judge John J. Parker handed down in October 1929 concerning the
Luten Bridge Company vs Rockingham County lawsuit. Judge Parker’s decision was
to become a landmark ruling which is still held valid today. The opinion is still
taught in nearly every contracts law class in America.”

Many of the cast of characters involved in the Mebane’s Bridge controversy did
not live to see the issue resolved. The principle character in the saga, B. Frank
Mebane, died of a heart attack in New York City on 15 June 1926 after a three day

15



illness. At the time of his death he was probably one thi1_e most unpopular men in
Rockingham County. He was not buried in the county butin the iﬂebane family plot
in Oakwood Cemetery in the Town of Mebane, North Czlmlin‘u. ‘HiR \‘vife, Lily C
Morehead Mebane, was a public spirited woman .who was active in relu:‘fc:l"l'orts.m
eastern Europe after World War Land became a friend of Queen .Mar:c of Ror‘nznu'a.
She was a Democrat and was elected one of Rockingham County’s representatives in
the State Assemblies of 1931-1933. She was the guiding force in establishing the
Rockingham County Library System in the early 1930s. She died on 15 June 1943 at

her home in : . iy
Spray and was buried in the Morehead family plot in Leaksville’s Lawson

Ceme[ery.b The Mebanes had no children. ‘
Of the three proponents for building Mebane’s Bridge J. F. McCollum died on

26 December 1928, Thomas R. Pratt died on 3 May 1931 and W. F. Pruitt died 18

= 76
June 1957 at age 83.”

Of the bridge opposition James R. Martin died on 21 June 1928, George E.
Barber died on 8 October1937 and William W. Hampton died on 27 October 1957
being the last survivor of the county commissioners involved in the case.”” Robert B.
Chance of Reidsville, the commissioner who resigned in 1923, died on 14 January

1928.°

The bridge case still lives in folklore as the older residents of the county pass
down the story of B. Frank Mebane's bridge which caused such a controversy in the
1920s. Some wags say the bridge, being roadless for eleven years, made i into
Ripley’s “Believe It Or Not” column, although the writer has not been able to verify
this statement. One of the most asked questions is who paid for the $40,000 bridge?
It seems clear from testimony in the bridge lawsuits that B. Frank Mebane's Spray
Water Power and Land Company paid $25,000 to the Luten Bridge Company as part
payment for the bridge. Then in 1932 when Rockingham County lost the lawsuit it
had to pay the sum of $9.280. From the best information available it seems the Luten
Company failed to collect the remaining $9,800. It would be interesting to know what
the fifteen years of lawsuits cost the
taxpayers of Rockingham County.

And what of B. Frank Mebane’s visionary dream (o connect the present Eden
area to Reidsville with a new bridge and road?  In 1957 - 1958 these projects came
into being with the construction of Highway 14 and a new bridge across Dan River.
So was Mebane wrong in his vision or just in his methods and timing? The writer
thinks perhaps he was a generation ahead of his time.

Today Mebane's Bridge still spans the Dan River near Eden; however, one can
no longer cross the structure. On 23 or 24" November 2003 the North Carolina
Department of Transportation closed the bridge.sn
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A great number of Luten Bridges built around the country have been torn down
in recent years. Will Mebane's Bridge, an excellent example of a Luten bridge, meet
the same fate? North Carolinas Department of Transportation lets old bridges fall into
disrepair then condemns them as unsafe and then demolishes the structure to prevent
future liability cost. Will this be the fate of Mebane’s Bridge, a nationally known
structure, which was once called one of the most beautiful bridges in the South?®!
Perhaps the bridge will remain for some years since the structure supports a major
sewer line.

The author wishes to thank Don Hoover who found several old newspaper
articles which added forgotten information to the story of the Mebane's Bridge
controversy. Also thanks the Dr. Barak D. Richman, Assistant Professor of Law at
Duke University School of Law and his student Jordi Weinstock, who shared
additional information on the Mebane's Bridge case with the author in August 2004.
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County Commissioner Robert Bailey Chance who resigned in 1923. Richard
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Proceedings Records by Clerk of Court, Mark Pegram, and the author in 2003
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~ E-mail from Adam J. Farrar to Bob Carter, 5 December 2001. **1 am a law student

at Indiana University searching for information concerning a controversial bridge
built by the Luten Bridge Company in 1924 in Rockingham County. It culminated
in a very famous federal case, popular in legal casebooks for beginning law
students.” Interview with Dr. Barak Richman, 9 August, 2004.

The Greensboro Daily News, 16 June 1926. According to the tombstone placed
at Mebane’s grave in Oakwood Cernetery in the town of Mebane, North Carolina,
by his wife, Lily M. Mebane, he was born 4 February 1867 and died 15 June
1926. Newspaper articles often state that he was born in 1870. The tombstone also
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in loving memory by his wife.”

* For more information on Lily M. Mebane see The Rockingham Journal, Volume

25, Number 2, December 2000.

Joe F. McCollum was buried at Mount Bethel Christian Church Cemetery in the
Bethany area. Tom Pratt was buried in the Riverside Cemetery in Madison. W.
Frank Pruitt was buried in the Dan River Primitive Baptist Church Cemetery in
the Mayfield Community.

James R. Martin was buried in the family plot at Ayersville Baptist Church
Cemetery. George E. Barber was buried in the Greenview Cemetery in Reidsville.
Will W. Hampton was buried in the Lawson Cemetery in Eden.

Robert Baily Chance was born on 2 October 1862 in Williamsburg Township of
Rockingham County. In 1886 he moved to Reidsville where he entered the
furniture business in 1899. From 1902 until 1912 he and a partner operated the
well-known Reidsville firm of Hall and Chance. In 1912 the company was re-
organized under the name of Burton-Chance and Walker which remained in
business at the time of his death in 1928.

The Leaksville News: 20 June 1957; 24 July 1958.

Interview 9 August 2004 with Duke University law student, Jordi Weinstock, who
visited Mebane’s Bridge shortly after it was closed to traffic.

The Leaksville News, 11 August 1932.
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